Case No. 25-CV-0176

---

Clerk of the Court

Received 08/22/2025 04:23 PM

Resubmitted 08/25/2025 09:22 AM

Resubmitted 08/25/2025 10:25 AM

Resubmitted 08/25/2025 11:44 AM

Filed 08/25/2025 11:44 AM

---

AARP SERVICES, INC.

*Appellant,*

v.

RICHARD A. DEUS, JR.,

*Appellee*

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Alison N. Davis (Bar No. 429700)  
Alexis Bosilovic (Bar No. 90000648)  
Littler Mendelson, PC  
815 Connecticut Ave. NW, Ste. 400  
Washington, D.C. 20006  
202.842.3400 Telephone  
ANDavis@littler.com  
ABosilovic@littler.com

*Attorneys for Appellant*

**RULE 28(A)(2) CERTIFICATION**

## **I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

AARP Services, Inc. states that this Court has jurisdiction to consider this appeal from the Order of the Superior Court partially denying its Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, or in the Alternative for a New Trial, and/or for Remittitur, pursuant to D.C. Code §16-4427(a).

## **II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the trial court erred in denying ASI's post-verdict motion as Richard Deus did not satisfy his burden to demonstrate that ASI made the decision to terminate his employment because of his sexual orientation.

2. Whether the trial court erroneously found that the verdict was not a seriously erroneous result and that the denial of a request for a new trial would not result in a clear miscarriage of justice.

3. Whether the trial court erroneously found that the jury's lost wages and emotional distress damages award was not the result of passion, prejudice or mistake.

## **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a dispute arising out of the termination of the employment relationship between Appellee Richard "Rick" Deus Jr. ("Deus") and Appellant AARP Services, Inc. ("ASI"). Deus alleges that ASI terminated his employment because of his sexual orientation in violation of the District of Columbia Human Rights Act ("DCHRA"),

D.C. Code §§ 2-1401.01, *et seq.* The case was tried by a jury, which found that Deus had proven by the preponderance of the evidence that ASI had discriminated against him based on his sexual orientation. The jury's verdict against ASI was inconsistent with its verdict that the decision-maker, Lawrence Flanagan ("Flanagan"), who was an individually named defendant, did not discriminate against Deus based on his sexual orientation.

At the time of the relevant events in this dispute, Flanagan was ASI's President & CEO. Flanagan made the decision to terminate Deus's employment upon his review of two investigation reports which Jon Easley, retired Director of the Ethics & Compliance Office (ECO), prepared. Easely conducted an independent investigation, and determined based on his findings that Deus and two heterosexual employees had violated ASI's Code of Conduct and Travel and Expense Reimbursement Policy. Easely made no recommendations regarding discipline. Flanagan determined the discipline in consultation with Michael Loizzi, Human Resources Consulting Director and a gay employee. Deus and a heterosexual employee were terminated. Two other heterosexual employees received other forms of discipline.

Deus brought this action on May 15, 2018 alleging that ASI, Flanagan, former ASI VP, Angela Jones, who was Deus's second level supervisor, and the General Counsel, Sarah Mika discriminated against him based on his sexual orientation and

marital status in violation of the DCHRA and several common law claims. After Deus filed a First Amended Complaint on September 4, 2018, the case proceeded through discovery.

ASI filed a motion for summary judgment on October 25, 2021. On June 28, 2022, the trial court granted the motion in part, which resulted in the dismissal of all claims, except discrimination based on sexual orientation and marital status against Flanagan and ASI, and a breach of contract claim against ASI<sup>1</sup>. Trial commenced in the action on March 5, 2024.

After eight (8) days of trial, Deus dismissed his claim of discrimination based on marital status against ASI and Flanagan. The jury then found that Flanagan did not discriminate against Deus, and ASI discriminated against Deus based on his sexual orientation. The jury awarded Deus \$1,612,916.18 as lost wages and \$578,351 as compensatory damages which was reduced to a total of \$2,191,267.18. ASI noted this appeal.

#### **IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Construing the evidence in the record in favor of Richard “Rick” Deus Jr. (“Deus” or “Appellee”), Appellee failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that ASI terminated his employment because of discrimination based on his sexual

---

<sup>1</sup> ASI does not appeal the breach of contract claim.

orientation. A corporation makes decisions through individuals. The evidence in the record shows that there were three people who played a role in the termination of Deus—Jon Easley, Michael Loizzi and Lawrence Flanagan. There is no evidence in the record that identifies anyone else in the decision-making chain.

Here, the jury found that the evidence in the record did not prove that Flanagan discriminated against Deus based on his sexual orientation (Deus has not appealed that verdict). Thus, Deus could have only satisfied his burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that ASI intentionally discriminated against him based on his sexual orientation based on a theory of subordinate bias liability also known as “cat’s paw” liability or rubber-stamping.

There had to be evidence from which the jury could have inferred that Flanagan did not independently decide to terminate Deus, and Easley and/or Loizzi, the only other ASI employees in the decision-making chain, harbored discriminatory animus against Deus based on his sexual orientation and influenced Flanagan’s decision to terminate Deus. No evidence of such bias exists. The evidence showed that Loizzi recommended termination for both Deus and a heterosexual employee involved in the same or similar conduct. On the other hand, the evidence in the record showed that Easley, was not a decisionmaker. Easley’s role was limited to conducting the investigations after ECO received complaints and making determinations that Deus violated ASI’s Code of Conduct and Travel & Expense

Reimbursement Policy. Discipline is a management decision. The evidence in the record further showed that Easley determined that both gay and heterosexual employees violated ASI's policies. There simply was no evidence that either Loizzi or Easley treated heterosexual employees more favorably than gay employees, or specifically harbored animus towards Deus because of his sexual orientation.

Based on the evidence in the record, the jury could not have found that Flanagan was an unwitting conduit of any illicit motives of Loizzi, Easley or any other employee at ASI when he decided to terminate Deus. The jury could only have reached its verdict against ASI based on speculation, conjecture and second-guessing, which is not a proper basis for finding liability in this case. The jury was required to follow the jury instructions and it failed to do so. Here, it is clear that the jury rendered its verdict based on the notion of fairness, and not the law. Because the jury could not have found that ASI discriminated against Deus because of his sexual orientation based on the evidence in the record, the verdict must be vacated.

Second, the trial court erred in denying ASI's request for new trial. As explained above, the verdict could not have been based on the evidence in the record, especially in light of the lack of evidence that ASI has animosity towards gay employees. To the contrary, the overwhelming evidence in the record is that ASI has long supported the LGBTQ+ community; employees, including Deus, felt comfortable being open about their sexual orientation in the workplace; and at least

one member of senior management is a lesbian. To reach its verdict against ASI, the jury must have been swayed by counsel for Deus's argument in closing that unconscious bias, and not intentional discrimination, was the reason for Deus's termination. This is not based on conjecture by Appellant, but the lack of evidence in the record that proves Easley's investigation reports were unworthy of credence.

Finally, the trial court erred in denying ASI's request for remittitur with respect to the jury's lost wages and emotional distress damages award. First, contrary to the trial court's findings, Deus's earnings after ASI terminated his employment were not modest. He found a job equivalent to his role with ASI and was making nearly the same salary for approximately nine months, a value that was seemingly not considered by the jury or the trial court. Additionally, had the trial court considered Deus's failure to mitigate damages, it would not have reached the same conclusion. Finally, the only explanation for the excessiveness of the jury's emotional distress award is passion, prejudice, or mistake. This is especially true given Deus's therapist's testimony supporting the conclusion that other factors, outside of Deus's termination, were the cause of his post-traumatic stress disorder.

For all of these reasons, the Court of Appeals should (1) reverse the jury verdict and enter judgment in favor of ASI; or (2) grant a new trial, and (3) if the verdict stands against ASI, grant remittitur with respect to the award of damages.

## **V. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **A. AARP Services, Inc.**

ASI is a wholly-owned taxable subsidiary of AARP, Inc., a not for profit parent company. JA 683. ASI negotiates, manages, and oversees relationships with providers of benefits to AARP members. JA 688. ASI and AARP are separate entities but share certain services, such as the Ethics and Compliance Office (“ECO”) which investigates ethics complaints at both entities. Employees have an affirmative obligation to report suspected violations of the Code of Conduct. JA 752. Ensuring employees act in an ethical manner is important to AARP maintaining the trust of the public and an image of being an ethical company. JA 687-89, 752. The importance of compliance with the Code of Conduct is emphasized to employees in training. JA 371-74.

ASI has a history of openly supporting the LGBTQ+ community. JA 690. For example, ASI features articles that address the concern of older members of the LGBTQ+ community. *Id.* One of ASI’s senior leaders, Robyn Motley, is an openly lesbian employee. JA 537, 583. ASI has had an LGBTQ+ employee resource group (“Prism”) for more than 20 years. JA 691. ASI has participated in LGBTQ+ events, including local Pride parades. JA 1408. Before gay marriage was legalized, ASI offered health benefits to domestic partners. JA 691.

## **B. Deus's Employment with ASI**

Deus is gay. JA 259. Throughout Deus's more than 10-years of employment with ASI, it was known that he was gay. JA 984. Prior to being employed with ASI, Deus had worked at AOL, Inc. *Id.* At AOL, he had worked with and socialized with Angela Jones ("Jones") who hired him at ASI and seven years later promoted him to Director, Program Management. JA 642. Jones approved Deus's use of volunteer hours to be the Executive Director of the Capital Pride committee for two consecutive years (2015 and 2016). JA 416, 987. Deus also was approved to take his same-sex spouse on an ASI-paid extended vacation in France in 2015. JA 401-02, 441.

Deus was familiar with ASI's Code of Conduct and Travel & Expense Reimbursement Policy. JA 371-372, 374. Deus also understood that the gift policy prohibited the acceptance of valuable privileges, and the Code of Conduct defined a "valuable privilege." *Id.* at 372. Deus participated in ASI's training about the Code of Conduct. *Id.* at 372-74.

## **C. The Source Marketing Trip and Resulting Investigation**

In October of 2017, Deus and his direct report, Heather Ingram ("Ingram"), a heterosexual employee, traveled to New York City and met with ASI vendor, Source Marketing. JA 382. During this time, ASI and Source Marketing were in the process of negotiating a statement of work ("SOW"). JA 383. Prior to the trip, Ingram

notified Deus that she intended to stay overnight with a friend, a Source Marketing employee, at her home. JA 382. Deus did not tell Ingram that she should not be accepting accommodations from her friend. JA 383. Instead, after Deus and Ingram returned from New York City, he reported Ingram to ECO for misconduct. JA 384.

ECO assigned the investigation to Easley. JA 779. Easley had worked for AARP for about 12 years. JA 750. The majority of his professional career had been as a federal law enforcement officer. *Id.* Prior to joining ASI, Easley had been a postal inspector. *Id.* Prior to being employed with AARP, Easley had received training about conducting investigations. JA 754. As part of his training, Easley learned to assess the credibility of persons whom he was interviewing. JA 755.

The scope of the investigation was expanded from Ingram to include Deus after ECO received an anonymous complaint alleging that Deus also engaged in misconduct related to the same trip. JA 755. Easley investigated both complaints, and concluded that both Deus and Ingram violated ASI's Travel and Expense Reimbursement Policy. JA 1401-07. Ingram also violated the Code of Conduct. JA 1406. Specifically, Easley classified the trip as personal for both Ingram and Deus given the brief nature of the meeting. JA 782, 1401. In addition to Ingram's overnight stay with a friend, Easley had learned that Deus had scheduled a doctor's appointment in New York City the morning after the Source Marketing meeting. JA 782-83.

#### **D. The Sugar Bowl Trip and Resulting Investigation**

ECO received a second anonymous report shortly after Deus's New York trip concerning the attendance of Deus and his direct report, Andrew Herd ("Herd"), a heterosexual, at the 2018 Sugar Bowl with an ASI vendor. JA 796-97, 186. The investigation again was assigned to Easley, who looked into whether the trip was a valuable privilege under ASI's Code of Conduct, and thus not an acceptable form of entertainment that an employee could accept. JA 798, 186, 808. A "valuable privilege" includes:

- *Admission to semi-final* or final *sporting events* like the play-off games, the Super Bowl, the World Series, or the Olympics
- Admission to rare or unusual performances by famous people or stars, season tickets or a series subscription to cultural events
- Memberships to sports, country or other types of clubs
- Experiences such as travel by private aircraft, boat or luxury vehicle
- Payment for travel or lodging

JA 1304. In 2018, the Sugar Bowl was one of the College Football Playoff Semifinal games. JA 1390.

During the investigation, Deus told Easley that he had received approval from Laurel Gillis ("Gillis"), an attorney in the Law Department. JA 1341. Easley interviewed Gillis, a lesbian employee (JA 123), who could not recall approving the acceptance of the admission to the Sugar Bowl. JA 1342, 159-60. Gillis further told Easley that she was not authorized to approve the acceptance of gifts. JA 140, 150, 158-60.

After the interview, Gillis sent Easley an e-mail in which she mentioned being aware of employees attending sporting events over the years and, specifically, two employees attending the Sugar Bowl; one of which was in the 2012-2013 timeframe. JA 1285. Easley understood that the 2011 and 2012 Sugar Bowl games was not a play off or semi-final game. JA 808.

Based on his findings, Easley determined that Deus and Herd violated ASI's Code of Conduct and Travel and Reimbursement Policy. JA 1339. Specifically, Easley concluded that Deus failed to receive approval for the trip to the Sugar Bowl from ASI's legal department, as directed by his supervisor Victoria Borton ("Borton"). JA 1343-44. Easley also concluded that Deus, the supervisor, encouraged Herd, the direct report, to attend the sporting event despite the lack of approval. *Id.* Finally, Easley determined that Deus had lied to him during the investigation. JA 1344.

Easley presented his findings and determinations associated with the two investigations to Loizzi, then-Human Resources Consulting Services Director. JA 1103, 1117. Loizzi was a member of Flanagan's leadership team, and provided advice on human resources issues. JA 1037. Loizzi, a gay employee, (JA 1105) reviewed the investigation reports, and had no questions with respect to Easley's findings. JA 1120-21. After receiving the two investigation reports, Loizzi conferred with the legal department and his superior. JA 1113-14, 1118, 1121-22. It was

Loizzi's practice to consider prior disciplines when making a recommendation for discipline.

Q How do you decide what discipline is appropriate?

A We look at the circumstances and the severity, what was substantiated through the investigation, look at potential other precedents, other situations that resulted in a precedent, and then determine the level of discipline or action that's taken.

Q And so looking at precedents, to the extent you do, would you have to look at prior discipline?

A Under the same circumstances, yes, as whatever the investigation was about.

Loizzi then made a recommendation to Flanagan about the discipline for Deus, Ingram, Herd and Borton. JA 1121-22. Based on the reports and Loizzi's advice, Flanagan made discipline decisions.

Loizzi recommended that ASI should terminate Deus (JA 1122) and Ingram (JA 1114). Loizzi did not recommend the termination of Herd because in his opinion Herd was encouraged to attend the game by Deus, his supervisor. JA 1122. Borton was issued a written warning for trusting Deus and failing to personally speak with the legal department regarding the trip and failing to provide proper leadership. JA 1125-26.

#### **E. Deus's Employment After His Termination from ASI**

Deus was earning \$175,000 per year, plus incentives when he was terminated. JA 348. Six months after his termination from ASI, Deus was hired at Arcadia

Power, where he served as Arcadia Power’s Director of Partner Marketing and earned a \$150,000 salary. JA 348, 1185. Deus began having “problems” at Arcadia Power and was laid off in April of 2019. JA 349, 1192. After his termination from Arcadia Power, Deus started an online sexual lubricant company and spent most of 2020 building this business and working at SecondStar, a company which he and his husband co-own. JA 358-59, 361.

#### **F.     Dave Austin As a Comparator**

Dave Austin was employed with ASI from June 2006 to March 2019. JA 523. Austin was hired as a Director (JA 524); promoted to Vice President of Marketing, and selected to be the Managing Partner of an internal advertising agency, Inflent50 during his last seven or eight years of employment; *i.e.*, approximately 2011 or 2012. JA 523. Austin’s supervisors were Jeanne Alexander (JA 554), Linda Caliri and Motley (JA 558, 537). Austin was not supervised by Borton or Jones.

In his roles, Austin travelled frequently. JA 529. Austin travelled for Quarterly Business Reviews. JA 528-29. Austin would socialize with ASI providers who offered benefits to AARP members. JA 530. Austin would for example attend concerts (e.g., Bruce Springsteen and Billy Joel), baseball games, basketball games and participate in golf outings. JA 530-32, 534-535. Austin never received a golf membership from a provider. JA 579. Austin never attended a Stanley Cup final or World Series game with a provider. *Id.* Austin attended events with the approval of

his supervisor, and when necessary the legal department. JA 535-36. To Austin's knowledge, no one reported his socializing to ECO. JA 580.

In 2013, when Austin was the VP, Marketing Services, ECO conducted an investigation of a vendor relationship with ASI. JA 549, 1351. During the course of that investigation<sup>2</sup>, Easley looked into the travel expenses of Austin. JA 202-03. That investigation determined that in 2012 and 2013 there were (1) 41 instances when Austin did not submit travel authorization requests in advance of the travel as required by the Travel & Expense Reimbursement Policy and his supervisor, Caliri, authorized the travel after the fact; (2) \$2,905.18 of unreimbursable travel expenses; and (3) extending business travel for personal reasons. JA 205, JA 1360-63. Then President and CEO, John Wider (JA 548, 583-84) was informed of Easley's findings and determinations of violations of ASI policy. JA 1352-75. There was no finding that Austin had accepted a gift which was a "valuable privilege." Wider chose to sternly counsel Austin; document the discipline in Austin's personnel file; and require him to reimburse ASI for the improperly reimbursed expenses. JA 584, 587. Wider made it clear that future violations by Austin would not be tolerated, and he would be fired. JA 540-41, 554, 584.

---

<sup>2</sup> At trial, Austin testified that he was never shown the report (JA 551, 553, 557, 559)

Austin in his capacity as VP, Marketing Services (JA 575) attended the 2011 and 2012 Sugar Bowl games, which were not semi-final games (JA 574-75). When Austin attended the Sugar Bowl, there was no semi-final or championship game structure. *Id.* Legal approved his attendance. JA 575, 577. At that time, Austin reported to Caliri who reported to Alexander who reported to Wider. JA 576-77.

#### **G. Jury Instructions**

Deus proceeded on the theory that the sole reason for his termination was his sexual orientation. The trial court therefore proceeded with the following jury instruction:

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