DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Clerk of the Court

Received 09/22/2025 03:22 PM

Resubmitted 09/22/2025 04:41 PM

Filed 09/22/2025 04:41 PM

Case No. 25-CV-176

AARP SERVICES, INC.,
Appellant,

v.

RICHARD DEUS, JR.,
Appellee

**Appeal from the Superior Court
of the District of Columbia
(Hon. Shana Frost Matini)**

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

**Thomas C. Mugavero, Esq. (#431512)
Kendra M. Leite, Esq. (#252688)
Whiteford, Taylor & Preston LLP
1800 M Street, NW, Suite 450N
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 469-3222**

Counsel for Appellee Richard Deus, Jr.

APPELLEE'S CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

the opposite—that Mr. Deus has lied about talking to Ms. Gillis. By contrast, Mr. Herd’s bald statement that he did not know that the Sugar Bowl was a semifinal game, despite not only his keen interest in the sport but also the information on the email that he received, was treated merely as “unreasonable” by Mr. Easley, rather than a fabrication.

Too, the evidence showed that both Mr. Deus and Mr. Sanders, two homosexual employees, were given draconian penalties without the benefit of any kind of hearing or discussion, while Mr. Herd and Mr. Austin, two heterosexual employees, received far lighter disciplinary actions. Finally, the shifting nature of ASI’s rationales for Mr. Deus’s termination (first, violation of the travel and expense policy, then lying, then failing to reprimand a subordinate), provided a basis for the jury’s conclusion that the reasons for firing Mr. Deus were pretextual.

The jury’s finding that Mr. Flanagan did not harbor discriminatory bias is not inconsistent with the verdict against ASI. The evidence showed that Mr. Easley conducted the entire investigation, and skewed the ECO reports to place Mr. Deus in a poor light. By contrast, neither Mr. Flanagan nor Mr. Loizzi, the head of Human Resources, did any independent investigation or compare Mr. Deus with any other employees. On the contrary, they relied on Mr. Easley’s report and assumed the contents to be accurate. Moreover, any objection to inconsistency in

the verdict comes too late, and should have been addressed before the jury was excused.

Although ASI argues that the jury verdict is excessive, in fact the findings comport with the testimony. Before his termination, Mr. Deus made \$175,000 per year at ASI, along with significant bonuses and other incentives. He contributed to a 401(k) plan matched by ASI, and had health care for himself and his husband. After he was fired, he had to incur COBRA expenses, and could no longer contribute to these retirement accounts. Although he did find new employment, after a while, at Arcadia Power, the salary there was lower and there were few, if any, benefits. Moreover, the fact that he was laid off through no fault of his own after nine months did not break the causal chain and terminate his right to an award of back pay from ASI. Too, and contrary to Appellant's assertions, any income earned from either Mr. Deus's online business venture or his husband's tiling company was minimal, and did not make up for the loss of his salary and benefits at ASI. Finally, Mr. Deus testified at length of his emotional struggles after being fired, including depression and thoughts of suicide. There was more than enough testimony at trial to support the jury's award of emotional damages.

Finally, the trial court acted well within its discretion in denying the motion for new trial, both on the grounds that the verdict was contrary to the weight of the evidence and on the grounds that Mr. Deus's counsel had made allegedly improper

statements in closing. Certainly, by failing to object to Plaintiff's closing argument, ASI has waived its argument absent plain error, which does not exist here.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Review of a ruling granting or denying a motion for judgment as a matter of law is *de novo* and under the same standard as applied by the trial court. *See, e.g., District of Columbia v. Bryant*, 307 A.3d 443, 450 (D.C. 2024); *Wash. Convention Ctr. Auth. v. Johnson*, 953 A.2d 1064, 1072 (D.C. 2008). Still, the appellate court reviews a denial of a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict deferentially. *Arthur Young v. Sutherland*, 631 A.2d 354, 363 (D.C. 1993). “Reversal is warranted only if no reasonable person, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party, could reach a verdict in favor of that party.” *Oxendine v. Merrell Dow Pharmas., Inc.*, 506 A.2d 1100, 1103 (D.C. 1986). “A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict should be granted only in extreme cases . . . [and] a finding that the evidence was sufficient on any one of the claims found by the jury will support the judgment in this case in its entirety.” *Wilson Sporting Goods Co. v. Hickox*, 59 A.3d 1267, 1274 (D.C. 2013).

In contrast, “[t]he trial court has broad latitude in passing upon a motion for new trial,” and the appellate court reviews the disposition of such a motion only for abuse of discretion. *United Mine Workers v. Moore*, 717 A.2d 332, 337 (D.C. 1998)

(quoting *Gebremdhin v. Avis Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc.*, 689 A.2d 1202, 1204 (D.C. 1997)). A new trial is appropriate only where the verdict is against the weight of the evidence, or that there would be a miscarriage of justice if the verdict is allowed to stand. *Id.*

Finally, the appellate court reviews for abuse of discretion the trial court's grant or denial of a motion for remittitur or new trial for excessiveness of verdict. *Asal v. Mina*, 247 A.3d 260, 277 (D.C. 2021).

B. The Trial Court Properly Denied the Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict

1. The Framework for Discrimination Cases

It is well-established that the District of Columbia follows the approach of the U.S. Supreme Court in allocating the burdens of proof in a discrimination case. *See Atl. Richfield Co. v. D.C. Comm'n on Hum. Rts.*, 515 A.2d 1095, 1099 (D.C. 1986). Under that framework, the plaintiff has the initial burden of establishing a *prima facie* case of discrimination, which is “not onerous.” *Tex. Dep’t of Cnty. Affairs v. Burdine*, 450 U.S. 248, 253, 101 S. Ct. 1089, 67 L.Ed.2d 207 (1981). Once that *prima facie* case has been shown, the burden shifts to the employer to “articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for the employee's rejection.” *McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green*, 411 U.S. 792, 802, 93 S. Ct. 1817, 36 L.Ed.2d 668 (1973). If the employer meets that burden, the sole remaining issue is discrimination *vel non*. *Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc.*, 530 U.S.

133, 142-3, 120 S. Ct. 2097, 147 L.Ed.2d 105 (2000). Ultimately, the burden rests on the plaintiff to show that the non-discriminatory reason is pretextual. *Id.*

Appellants devote much of their brief to the argument that the verdict must fail because the “record is devoid of direct evidence of sexual orientation discrimination.” *See, e.g.*, App. Br. 25. Direct evidence of bias is not a *sine qua non* of a successful discrimination claim: “[p]roof that the defendant's explanation is unworthy of credence is simply one form of circumstantial evidence that is probative of intentional discrimination, and it may be quite persuasive.” *Reeves*, 530 U.S. at 147, 120 S.Ct. at 2108; *see also Estenos v. PAHO/WHO Fed. Credit Union*, 952 A.2d 878, 889 (D.C. 2008); *Propp v. Counterpart Int'l*, 39 A.3d 856, 871 (D.C. 2012) (“the jury may infer a retaliatory motive from its disbelief of the employer's proffered non-discriminatory reason”).

2. There is Sufficient Evidence to Support the Jury Verdict

Here, there is ample evidence in the record to allow the jury to find that ASI's proffered non-discriminatory reason was not worthy of belief. First, there is the nearly unprecedeted way that Mr. Deus's New York trip was assessed, and how his explanations were cavalierly rejected. Both Mr. Deus and Mr. Herd testified, without challenge, that trips to meet business partners in person were routine, that social activities were usually included in these trips, and that adding a personal errand at the end did not negate the business aspect of the trip.

Their testimony was consistent with the plain language of the Code of Conduct. Nonetheless, Mr. Easley concluded that the New York trip was unnecessary because it could have been conducted by teleconference—at a time before the COVID-19 pandemic and rise in Zoom and other video-conferencing technologies.³ Mr. Easley also focused on Mr. Deus's medical appointment the following morning, although such personal errands were routinely accepted by ASI as long as the employee paid any additional costs incurred. Certainly, there was no evidence whatsoever that Mr. Deus either misled ASI about his appointment, nor that he somehow failed to carry his share of the travel expenses.

Moreover, the fact that Mr. Deus was summarily fired for attending the Sugar Bowl stands in direct contrast to the treatment afforded to Dave Austin and Andrew Herd. Mr. Herd attended the same game—and, in fact, received the invitation from Allstate that clearly stated that it was a “semifinal game.” JA 333, 1332-33. Unlike Mr. Deus, Mr. Herd is an avid college fan and therefore would certainly have known the status of the Sugar Bowl that year and that it constituted a “valuable privilege.” Nonetheless, Mr. Herd was not fired or disciplined but simply required to pay back his reimbursed expenses.

³ In fact, defense counsel twice tried to minimize the business meeting by asserting that it only lasted for 90 minutes, despite the fact that it started at 3 PM and lasted until 5:30 PM. *See JA 395.*

Dave Austin's treatment stands in even greater contrast. Mr. Austin attended the Sugar Bowl, *twice*, a few years prior to Mr. Deus, JA 585-68; like Mr. Deus, Mr. Austin obtained verbal approval from his supervisor and from Ms. Gillis, JA 535-6, 538. Mr. Austin, however, was never even investigated for his attendance at this event. *See* JA 545. Mr. Austin also accepted luxury rounds of golf and VIP tickets to concerts by Bruce Springsteen and Billy Joel, and testified that the sole purpose of his travel was to attend these events: there was no business meeting attached. *Id.* Most striking, Mr. Austin was found to have violated the travel and expense reimbursement policy on at least 41 different occasions. He was not fired, however; he was merely required to pay back those improperly claimed expenses, which amounted to more than five thousand dollars (\$5,000). JA 553. In contrast to Mr. Deus's draconian penalty, Mr. Austin was told to "just put this behind you and [move] on." JA 554.

The jury also heard about the termination of Jack Sanders, another gay man. Although his case was unrelated to the travel and expenses policy (ASI had asserted that Mr. Sanders had sent sexually explicit images to another employee), his treatment was similar to that of Mr. Deus. Mr. Sanders was accused through an anonymous complaint but was not given any opportunity to defend himself. *See* JA 71-86. Mr. Sanders was summarily terminated, without any consideration of a lesser penalty. *See* JA 74-6. And, like Mr. Deus, it was ultimately determined that

Mr. Sanders did not violate any ASI policy: he could not have sent the images, as the metadata showed that the images were sent from a phone in D.C. while he was in Chicago at the time. JA 89-90.

Further, the manner of Mr. Easley's investigation of Mr. Deus raised serious questions. Again, he concluded that Mr. Deus's New York trip was "personal," despite ASI's clear practice to the contrary. He further included a section in his report entitled "FALSE STATEMENTS BY RICK DEUS," although he did not do so for either Mr. Herd or Mr. Austin. *Compare JA 1337-49, 1399-1407 with JA 1351-75.*⁴ Certainly, Mr. Easley made no attempt to challenge Mr. Herd's claim that he did not know that the Sugar Bowl was a "semifinal game." Too, although Mr. Easley claimed that Mr. Deus had told Mr. Herd that the trip was approved, *see JA 173-4*, Mr. Easley admitted that he had no idea what the two had actually discussed. JA 198. Certainly, Mr. Easley made no attempt to determine whether Mr. Herd had made any false statements. JA 199.

Finally, the jury heard evidence of ASI's shifting rationales for Mr. Deus's termination. ASI relied first on Mr. Deus's purported violations of the travel and

⁴ Strikingly, in Mr. Austin's case, Mr. Easley forbore from accusing him of lying, but merely noted that "it does not seem reasonable to conclude that adding additional flight segments and destinations to a trip would not increase airfare in all six cases." JA 1363. In other words, when Mr. Austin improperly claimed thousands of dollars in reimbursements, Mr. Easley thought he was simply being "unreasonable." When Mr. Easley found what he thought were discrepancies in the timeline for Mr. Deus's New York trip, or a variation in the accounts of Mr. Deus and Ms. Gillis, Mr. Easley immediately concluded that Mr. Deus was lying.

expense policy. JA 14. Then, according to Mr. Flanagan’s deposition testimony as ASI’s corporate representative (which was read to the jury), Mr. Deus was fired because he had “lied.” *See* JA 862-67, 1078-79. Later in the trial, the claim was that Mr. Deus was fired because he had neglected to stop Ms. Ingram from staying at a vendor’s home during the New York trip and by “forcing” Mr. Herd to attend the Sugar Bowl; neither contention was supported by any evidence in the record. *See, e.g.*, JA 383-84. Such shifting explanations over the course of the trial is sufficient for a reasonable jury to find pretext to cover up bias. *See, e.g., Store v. Barr*, 960 F.3d 627, 646 (D.C. Cir. 2020).

The jury had more than enough evidence to conclude that any reason given by ASI for Mr. Deus’s termination was not credible. It is uncontested that the New York trip conformed to established ASI practice, yet Mr. Easley concluded that the venture was entirely personal in nature. Too, the ECO report ignored any information that might have demonstrated that Mr. Deus honestly believed he was approved to attend the Sugar Bowl, skewing the results of Mr. Easley’s investigation to fit what appears to be a pre-ordained conclusion. Finally, Mr. Deus’s treatment stood in stark contrast to that of Mr. Austin and Mr. Herd, both heterosexual males. Mr. Herd attended the same Sugar Bowl – and, unlike Mr. Deus, knew that it was a semi-final game – yet was not disciplined. Mr. Austin, for his part, had a long history of submitting improper expense requests and accepting

valuable privileges, yet emerged unscathed. Given the evidence at trial, a reasonable jury could have, and indeed did, find that ASI's proffered reasons were pretextual and that the real reason for Mr. Deus's termination was improper bias.

3. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Rejecting the Claim that the Verdict was Inconsistent

As an adjunct to their argument that direct evidence of bias is necessary to support a verdict of discrimination, Appellant further argues that the verdict must be rejected as inconsistent because the jury found that sexual orientation bias was not a "substantial contributing factor" to Mr. Flanagan's decision to termination Mr. Deus. *See* Verdict Form, JA 1427. There are two fatal flaws with Appellant's argument. First, the objection comes too late; second, it misconstrues the evidence concerning Mr. Easley's investigation.

As this Court has noted, "a party waives its objection to any alleged inconsistency in a general verdict, with or without interrogatories, if it fails to object before the jury's discharge." *President, Dirs. of Georgetown Coll. v. Wheeler*, 75 A.3d 280, 288 (D.C. 2013) (*citing Dist. of Columbia Hous. Auth., v. Pinkney*, 970 A.2d 854, 868 (D.C. 2009) ("DCHA did not raise an objection based on inconsistent verdicts before the jury was excused, [after returning general verdict with special interrogatory,] and it therefore has waived this argument."); *Estate of Underwood v. Nat'l Credit Union Admin.*, 665 A.2d 621, 645 (D.C. 1995) (explaining that Rule 49, "particularly section (b), countenances a waiver of

objections to inconsistencies in the verdict that are not pointed out before the jury is discharged”)).

The Verdict Form in this case was a general verdict: the jury was simply asked to find whether ASI and/or Mr. Flanagan had discriminated against Mr. Deus in his termination and, if so, what damages to award. Although it is not part of the Joint Appendix, the transcript from the final day of the trial clearly shows that, while Ms. Davis asked for the jury to be polled, at no point did ASI raise the issue of an inconsistent verdict. As such, the objection is waived.

Substantively, the findings in the verdict are not inconsistent. While “irreconcilable verdicts are taboo” in civil cases, “[w]here there is a view of the case that makes the jury's answers to special interrogatories consistent, they must be resolved [in] that way.” *District of Columbia. v. Tulin*, 994 A.2d 788, 798 (D.C. 2010) (quoting *Atl. & Gulf Stevedores, Inc. v. Ellerman Lines, Ltd.*, 369 U.S. 355, 364, 82 S. Ct. 780, 7 L.Ed.2d 798 (1962)). “As a general rule, a reviewing court indulges every reasonable presumption in favor of the legality of the verdicts.” *Tulin*, 994 A.2d at 798 (citing 75 B. Am. Jur. 2d *Trial*, § 1586, at 378–80 (2007)).

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